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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS
LARRY S. WHITE,
Plaintiff,
V.
Case No. 17-2262-DDC-KGG
CERTAINTEED CORPORATION,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Larry S. White filed a five-courdivil action against defendant CertainTeed
Corporation, advancing claims of discrimation and retaliation undéhe Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and 42 U.S.C. § 1981. Before
the court are three motions filed by CertainTeed: (1) Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Untimely
Amended Rule 26 Disclosures (Doc. 34); (2) Motfor Summary Judgment (Doc. 37); and (3)
Motion to Strike PlaintiffsOpposition Exhibits 13, 16, 17, 2&nd 23 (Doc. 44). The court
grants in part and denies in part CertainTe®&tb$ion to Strike Plaintiff's Opposition Exhibits,
excluding Exhibits 13, 16, 17, and 23 from coesadion and partially excluding Exhibit 22 from
consideration. The court also grants Ceifaed’'s Motion for Summary Judgment, concluding
Mr. White has failed to sustain his burden undeMie®onnell Douglasframework, and its
hybrids, on any of his claims. rilly, the court denies CertainTee Motion to Strike Plaintiff’'s
Untimely Amended Rule 26 Disclosures because the summary judgment entered by this Order

renders this motion moot.

! McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedl1 U.S. 792 (1973).
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Uncontroverted Facts

The following facts either are uncontrovertedwhere controverted, they are stated in
the light most favorable to MiVhite as the non-moving party.

A. Mr. White’s Employment at CertainTeed

Mr. White, who is African-American, commencethployment at CertainTeed in July
1998. Doc. 33 at 2-3 (Pretrial Order at 11 2.a.47R.&LertainTeed “manufactures interior and
exterior building products” and “operates a fidasg insulation manufactag facility in Kansas
City, Kansas.”Id. at 2 (Pretrial Ordeat 11 2.a.1-2.a.2). By 2001, Mr. White assumed the
position of Utility Cullet. Doc. 43-11 & (White Dep. 15:13-17). As a Utility Cullet,
Mr. White’s job duties included(1) “[m]aintain[ing] a safe and clean work area,” (2)
“make[ing] proper adjustments to all processipment,” (3) cleaning and removing scrap fiber
from machinery in his area, (4) cleaning Washwater area, including the screens in the
washwater system, and (5) transporting cullet hewoareas of the plant. Doc. 43-5 at 3-5, 7.
CertainTeed employees worked in shifts. Doc338-3 (Perrier Decl.  10). Mr. White worked
Shift A, a shift followed by Shift Dld. Mr. White, like all CertainTeed employees, was subject
to the Plant Conduct Rules, including Rule 9, whaddressed “[p]oor job performance or errors
in performing assigned tasks.” Doc. 38-atFinally, Mr. White, like other production
employees at CertainTeed’s Kansas City plaas a member of the Teamsters Local 41 Union
(the “Union”). Doc. 33 at 3 (Pretrial Ordat 1 2.a.9). And, under the Union’s Collective
Bargaining Agreement and CertainTeed’s progwesdisciplinary process, a Rule 9 violation
justified termination only when it was the emp&ys third written noticef a Rule 9 violation

within a nine- or twelve-month period. Dat3-6 at 5, 8 (Billings Dep. 13:8-12, 27:22-28:4).



In 2013 or 2014, Mr. White’s doctor diagnodsth with a restridgve airway conditiort.

Id. at 61-62 (Billings Dep. 236:23-237:5). At thiate, and for some time preceding his
diagnosis, Mr. White often took it upon himseliviear a half-face respirator mask when
working. 1d. at 62—63 (Billings Dep. 240:12—-242:8). In 2015, CertainTeed moved Mr. White
from the K-11 line to the K-21 line. Dod3-11 at 6 (White Dep. 16:7-13). Also during 2015,
CertainTeed stopped offering employees unfetteredsadoehalf- and full-faceespirator masks.
Doc. 38-10 at 10 (Shelly Dep. 41:16-22).

In February 2015, Mr. White underwent an x-cdyhis chest, which revealed nodules in
his lung. Doc. 43-11 at 62 (White Dep. 239:12--1Klr. White’s doctor recommended he wear
a full-face respirator mask. Doc. 38-10 at 11 (Shelly Dep. 47:4-11). Clay Shelly and Thomas
Weigert—the Environmental, Health, Safeapd Security Manager and the Plant Manager
respectively—learned about Mr. White’selthing condition and that he was donning a
respirator maskld. at 5, 11 (Shelly Dep. 13:6-9, 47:7-2Dpc. 33 at 3 (Pretrial Order at
1 2.a.6); Doc. 38-7 at 12, 76 (Whited 62:8—-18, 296:7-10). Mr. Shelly questioned
Mr. White’s need for a mask, expressing conceat e mask might furtmeestrict Mr. White’s
airways and might impair Mr. White’s line of sigéind ability to perform some of his job duties
safely. Doc. 38-10 at 11-12 (Shelly Dep. 48:13—-4%&g;id.at 44 (e-mail from Mr. Shelly
indicating it might not be safe for Mr. White operate a fork lift while wearing a mask).

Mr. Shelly advised Mr. White he could not wedradf- or full-face respiratr mask until: (1) he

provided a doctor’s note, (2) CertainTeed condd@ hazard assessment, (3) he underwent a fit

2 Other aspects of the papers on summary judgment suggest Mr. White did not experience breathing
problems until 2015SeeDoc. 43 at 62 (Plaintiff's Statement of Additial Uncontroverted Facts at § 56) (“In early
2015, Mr. White began experiencing breathing problems.”). Discrepancies over when Mr. White first experienced
breathing problems and when he first alerted CertainTetgesé breathing problems are not material to resolving
CertainTeed’s Motion for Summary Judgment.



test, and (4) he received maig on how to wear the maskd. at 12 (Shelly Dep. 49:23-50:4);
see also idat 41 (Mr. Shelly’s notes from meetingtlwMr. White). Mr. Shelly also scheduled
Mr. White for an appointment with the plant physicidd. at 12 (Shelly Dep. 49:18-20).
A few days later, and before Mr. White proeadMr. Shelly with a note from his doctor,
Mr. Shelly saw Mr. White wearing a full-face respirator malkk.at 14 (Shelly Dep. 62:7-63:1).
Mr. Shelly sent Mr. White home for the dald. Five days later, Mr. White dropped off a
doctor’s note.ld. (Shelly Dep. 63:18—-64:3). It read:tthve asked him to wear protective
equipment and have recommended a full-faask with filters as a precautionld. (Shelly
Dep. 63:18—-64:3). Mr. Shelly deemed the notevague to advance Mr. White’s request to
wear a respirator mask because the notaalictlaborate on Mr. White’s breathing condition,
the type of pollutants causing the breathing condition (fumes, dust, water vapor, etc.), or identify
what type of mask and filter the doctor recommendddat 14, 17 (Shelly Dep. 64:15-18,
74:16-75:6). Mr. Shelly contactedohn Monroe, the Shift A supgsor, and advised him that
Mr. White could not wear a half- or full-face mashtil he had provided an adequate note from a
doctor. Id. at 15 (Shelly Dep. 67:13-18¢e also idat 44 (e-mail from Mr. Shelly to
Mr. Monroe). Mr. Monroe sent Mr. White h@n Doc. 38-6 at 6 (Monroe Dep. 24:15-17).
Nothing in the record suggests Mr. Whiteoduced a doctor’s note that satisfied
Mr. Shelly; but Mr. White did reirn to work. Later in Felary, Mr. Shelly saw Mr. White
with a half-face respirator mask hanging arounchkisk and required him to put it away. Doc.
38-10 at 18 (Shelly Dep. 80:11-25). After thatversation, Mr. Shelly never saw Mr. White
wearing a half- or fulkace respirator maskd. at 19 (Shelly Dep. 83:1-9). And, according to

Mr. White, he stopped wearing a half- or ftdte respirator mask around May 2015 and did not



ask Mr. Shelly again about wearing a maBlac. 43-11 at 68 (White Dep. 261:5-262:7); Doc.
38-7 at 31 (White Dep. 323:11-324:£2).

In fall 2015, Julien Perrier, the Plant Sup&hndent, began receiving complaints from
Shift D employees about Mr. White’s job performance and the state of the washwater area
following Shift A. Mr. Perrier determined that, on November 1, 2015, the K-21 washwater
system, which Mr. White staffed during the oveftishift, was not ready for operation to start
the production line on time. Doc. 38-2 at &i(feer Dep. 69:5-22). MiPerrier instructed
Mr. Monroe to issue a write-umotice to Mr. White for poor joperformance, in violation of
Rule 9. Id. (Perrier Dep. 69:5-22). MMonroe issued the writep. Doc. 38-14. Mr. Monroe,
however, expressed reservatiorMn White about issuing a vte-up based on hearsay. Doc.
43-22 at 6 (Transcript of Audio Recording at 17:14-25)e also told Mr. White that he
believed the plows, not the washwater systemayented the line from starting production on
time. Id. at 4 (Transcript of Audio Recording Ait—17). And, when receiving the write-up,
Mr. White asked Mr. Monroe who the plant human resources person was because he wanted to
file a claim of harassmentd. at 8 (Transcript of Audio Recording at 25:8—-24). But, Mr. White
did not provide specifics to Mr. Monrodaut the basis for his claim of harassmest, race,

disability, or national origin.See id(SeeTranscript of Audio Rcording at 25:18-26:7).

8 The court cites two versions of Mr. White’spdsition because, although Mr. White's Statement of
Additional Uncontroverted Facts cites to testimony from the second day of his deposition, Mr. White did not attach
a transcript of that testimony to his Response to the summary judgment mositad]ronly excerpts of his
second-day testimony appear in Cerfaed’s papers in support of summary judgment. And, although CertainTeed
pointed out Mr. White's omission in its Reply on summary judgment, Mr. White did oxa fior leave to submit

the missing deposition testimony. The court thus canradtiaie or accept the additional statements of fact

advanced by Mr. White that rely on second-day testimony not included in the excerpts submitted by CertainTeed.

4 Section II.A.2. of this order addresses the courtitybo consider this transcript for purposes of summary
judgment.



Instead, Mr. White merely mentioned some waywlich he believed heas treated differently
than other utility culletsSee id (SeeTranscript of Audio Reaaling at 25:18-25:24).

On November 26, 2015, Mr. Perrier and Paul Hgghige Shift D supervisor, received an
e-mail from a second-level supervisor on Sbigntitled, “K21 WW — Larry White Aftermath!.”
Doc. 38-5 at 9. The e-mail included picturesh&f unkempt state of the washwater area at the
start of Shift D.Id. A little more than two weeks later, on December 13, 2015, Mr. Hughes
received another report about the state efwashwater area following Mr. White’s shift and,
after inspecting the area himself, prepared k& Rwvrite-up for Mr. White. Doc. 38-5 at 4-5
(Hughes Decl. 11 19-20, 24). And, on Decenilie 2015, Mr. Perrier received another
complaint from Shift D workers about the staff the washwater area following Mr. White’s
shift. Doc. 38-3 at 5 (Perrier Decl. { 21). réisponse to this complajiMr. Perrier drafted a
Rule 9 write-up for Mr. White and spoke withr. Hughes about Mr. White’s performanciel.
at 5-6 (Perrier Decl. 1 23-26Yir. Hughes informed Mr. Perri¢ghat he had prepared a write-
up for the December 13, 2015, issui@. at 6 (Perrier Decl. § 26). On December 17, 2015,
Mr. White received the write-ups preparedNsi. Perrier and Mr. Hughes, resulting in
Mr. White’s termination for three Rule 9 write-uplsl. at 7 (Perrier Decl. 1 28-30); Doc. 43-2
at 2. Mr. White packed up his locker and ki plant. Doc. 43-11 at 20 (White Dep. 69:1-5,
72:11-21). While packing up his locker, Mvhite placed several “check sheets,” which
contained information aboutgit production, in his backpaékid. at 21 (White Dep. 73:4-12);

seeDoc. 39-1 (check sheets containinfprmation about the production line).

5 Mr. White indicated that a former supervisor, Tim Miller, had advised him in 2008 or 2009 to maintain a
copy of his check sheets in case plant managers questioned his work. Doc. 43-11 at 21-22 (WlGit&83ep. 7

77:18). Mr. White, however, admitted no one gave him permission to remove the check she@ertamiieed

property. Id. at 37 (White Dep. 138:21-25). And Mr. White, when asked about company polieynoving

documents, said: “I know you can’t take company — off company property, but at the same time, | was only keeping
them because | got checked by Tim Miléelong time ago because — and so | got checked by Tim Miller.” Doc. 38-

7 at 7 (White Dep. 75:7-11).



The Union filed a grievance over Mr. Whgdermination. Doc. 43-42 at 2. Doug
Billings, who assumed the position as Certaied’s Kansas City pht's Human Resources
Manager in December 2015, investigated Mr. Whitermination. Doc. 38-9 at 2—3 (Billings
Decl. 11 3, 9). Mr. Billings determined Certéieed failed to follow the progressive discipline
policy when terminating Mr. White because Mrhite received the second and third Rule 9
write-ups at the same timéd. at 4 (Billings Decl. 11 12-13). Mr. Billings recommended
CertainTeed reinstate Mr. White, and Nerrier and Mr. Weigert accepted this
recommendationld. (Billings Decl. § 13, 16).

On January 13, 2016, Mr. White met with Nillings, Mr. Perrier, and Mr. Weigertid.
(Billings Decl.  18). Mr. Billngs advised Mr. White that Cemdieed was prepared to reinstate
him. Id. at 4 (Billings Decl. {1 19). Mr. Perrieand Mr. Weigert then began to discuss
Mr. White's performance issues. D@8-11 at 34 (White Dep. 126:3-6, 126:10-14).

Mr. Perrier produced a graph of the washwatestem settings and accused Mr. White of
misadjusting the settings to reduce the amounbef fscraps the system collected and, in turn,
the amount of fiber scraps he needed to cléan(White Dep. 126:3-6, 126:10-14). Mr. White
pulled out several check sheetshael removed from his locker when terminated and contended
he was not on duty when the washwatgstem settings were adjustdd. (White Dep. 126:18—
127:15). Mr. Billings and Mr. Perrier accuséld. White of stealing company property by
removing the check sheetkl. (White Dep. 127:16-129:3). MBIllings rescinded the
reinstatement offer because removing “confiddrand proprietary gapany records from the
plant premises” was against “lostanding plant protocol.” Do88-9 at 5 (Billings Decl. 1 23,
28). CertainTeed formally terminated MWhite on January 14, 2016, listing the reason for

termination as “For Cause — Theft@dmpany Documents.” Doc. 43-23 at 2.



The Union arbitrated Mr. White’s termiti@an. Doc. 43-31 at 2. On May 31, 2016, with
the Union’s petition for arbittéon still pending, Mr. White filed aharge of discrimination with
the Equal Employment Opportunity Conssion (EEOC) and the Kansas Human Rights
Commission. Doc. 38-27 at 2. Mr. White’'s EEOIRarge identifies racéjsability, retaliation,
and national origin as the formsdiscrimination he experiencedd. On July 19, 2016, the
EEOC notified CertainTeed that Mr. White fila charge of discrimination. Doc. 43-44.

On August 25, 2016, an arbitrator conduadukaring on the Union’s grievance of
Mr. White’s January 2016 termination. Doc. 33l4Pretrial Order at §.a.16). On October 26,
2016, the arbitrator issued a da@on in Mr. White’s favor.ld. (Pretrial Order at § 2.a.17); Doc.
43-46 at 2. The arbitrator’s dsion provided CertaiTeed 15 days froneceiving the decision
to reinstate Mr. White and pay him back wag®oc. 43-3 at 15. On November 14, 2016,
CertainTeed contacted the Union about calculating Mr. White’'s back wages. Doc. 38-24. On
November 17, 2016, CertainTeed reinstated Mr. Wdsta Utility Cullet on the K-21 line. Doc.
43-36 at 2. Discussion betwe€ertainTeed and the Union abdlneé amount of back wages
owed to Mr. White, however, atinued through mid-DecembegeeDoc. 38-25 (Dec. 13, 2016,
e-mail from CertainTeed to the Union about updatalculation of back wages). On December
21, 2016, more than 15 days afteraing the arbitrator's decwsn, CertainTeed paid Mr. White
$49,312.33 in back wages. Doc. 33 at 4 (PieDider at 1 2.a.19). Mr. White remained
employed by CertainTeed when he commenciedattion. Doc. 38-5 at 3 (Hughes Decl. | 8).

B. Mr. White’s Allegations of Discrimination & Hostile Work Environment

Mr. White’s Complaint asserts claims fosdiimination based on race, national origin,
and disability. The court derigghe following from the exhibitsubmitted with the parties’

summary judgment filings.



On his race discrimination claim, Mr. Whigelmitted he was not subject to and did not
personally hear any derogatorynarks or racial slurs. Do88-7 at 11, 35 (White Dep. 160:17—
161:9, 461:19-462:4). Mr. White, howeytgstified that heonsidered it racially discriminatory
when plant managers (1) spoke to him in ayvdunt” manner; (2) wantekim to “be quiet and
just do [his] job [without] talking back”; and (3) told him what to do without permitting him to
have input on operational decisiorid. at 13 (White Dep. 167=-168:1). Also, Mr. White
testified that he perceived discriminatiortle plant based on how employees congregated
around the timeclock, with only whitamployees congregating therel. at 20 (White Dep.
225:8-17). Mr. White also testified that Africé&merican employees were written up more
frequently when their supervisowere away from the plantd. at 21 (White Dep. 231:11—
232:21). But Mr. White acknowledged he did not know whether Caucasian employees were also
written up more frequently when their supervisors were away(White Dep. 232:22-24).

Finally, Mr. White testified abowgeveral incidents at CertainTedht he believed contributed to
a racially hostile work environmengee, e.g.Doc. 43-11 at 30—-31 (White Dep. 112:4-113:8).
Mr. White conceded, however, that harieed about all these incidents secondh&@ek, e.gid.
And, of the incidents he discussed, only onedeot appears in other evidence properly before
the court—that being an incident where Merrier allegedly poked an African-American
employee while calling the employee “boySeeDoc. 43-19 at 9, 11 (Perrier Dep. 29:21-32:6,
38:19-23).

Turning to national origin, Mr. White testifidat he heard from another employee that a
manager called a different employee a “dumb” and “lazy” American. Doc. 38-7 at 18-19 (White

Dep. 188:14-189:13%).Mr. White also believed that Mr. Rir and Mr. Weigert held a negative

6 Typically, the court would not consider this testimtr@gause Mr. White lackgzkrsonal knowledge of the
manager’s statement§eeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(2); Fed. R. Evid. 602. Mr. Billings, however, testified that he

9



opinion of Americans because, when he approatiiesd, they often began to speak in a foreign
language, which Mr. White interpreted as thvedty of secretly saying negative things about
Americans. Doc. 43-11 at 49 (White D4;85:1-188:8). Mr. White acknowledged, however,
that he does not speak any foreign languagas,never the subject any negative comments
about Americans, and did not personally hear any such commédnit.44 (White Dep.
165:13-16).

Finally, on his disability diggmination claim, Mr. White believes CertainTeed managers
harassed him when (1) they asked him repeateljyhe was wearing a respirator mask and (2)
Mr. Shelly, Mr. Weigert, and Mr. Perrier woutebt permit him to wear a mask until he produced
a more specific doctor’s note and receitt@ihing about how to wear the madkl. at 72 (White
Dep. 277:12-278:10). In this vein, Mr. White tastifthat Mr. Shelly “sayed on [him]” about
wearing a maskld. at 64—65 (White Dep. 248:24—-249:3). But, Mr. White did not provide any
details about his interactions with Mr. Shedllgout the mask outside of mid-February 2015.
And, as with his race and national origin disgnation claims, Mr. White admitted he neither
was the target of nor heaady insulting or derogatomgmarks based on disabilityd. at 43
(White Dep. 164:10-23).

In 2015, Mr. White discussed his perceptiontase episodes of discrimination with
fellow hourly employeesld. at 38 (White Dep. 143:2-8). But, Mr. White admitted that he did
not complain to “any manager or HR employekd” (White Dep. 143:9-14). This is so because
Mr. White was “nervous” about what managemmight do if he complained to a manager or
HR employee and because he felt no oréestainTeed would act on his complaiid. at 39,

41 (White Dep. 148:11-23, 154:18-25).

received a report that a manager had called an employee stupid and counseled that manager not to label Americans
“stupid.” Doc. 43-6 at 17 (Billings Dep. 64:15-17).

10



C. Mr. White’s Claims and the Procedural History of the Litigation

Mr. White filed a five-count Complaint. Do&. Count | of the Complaint raises claims
under the ADA alleging discrimination, failute accommodate, and harassment/hostile work
environment.ld. at 10-11 (Compl. at 11 81-88). Colrasserts a claim for retaliation under
the ADA. Id. at 11-12 (Compl. at 19 89-95). Count Il claims race discrimination and
harassment/hostile work environment und@gle VIl and 42 U.S.C. § 1981d. at 12-14
(Compl at 11 96—-102). Count IV presents @ntlor national origin discrimination under Title
VII. Id. at 14-15 (Compl. at 1 103—-08). FinaityCount V, Mr. White makes claims for
retaliation under Title VIl and 42 U.S.C. § 19&lleging CertainTeed taliated against him
after he had opposed race antdoral origin discrimination.ld. at 15-16 (Compl. at 109-16).

The court ordered the parties to submit FadRule of Civil Procedure 26(a) initial
disclosures by October 5, 2017. Doc. 2 at ZilhOrder Regarding Planning and Scheduling).
Both parties timely filed thir initial disclosures.SeeDocs. 8, 9 (certificates of service for Rule
26(a) disclosures). Mr. Whiteisitial disclosure identified fie potential withesses by name—
Mr. White, Summor White, Mr. Perrier, Mr. Weigeatad Mr. Billings. It also noted an intent to
designate additional witnesses, specifically “individuals necessary for rebuttal” and “individuals
identified by defendants.” Doc. 35-1 at 2-3.

In an October 2017 Scheduling Order, thart set a September 14, 2018, deadline for
the parties to complete all discovery andCatober 15, 2018, deadline for summary judgment
motions. Doc. 10 at 13 (Scheduling Order).e Tourt also required éhparties to serve any
supplemental Rule 26 disclosures at leasia® before the September 14, 2018, discovery
deadline.ld. at 3 (Scheduling Order §t2.a). The Scheduling Omdadvised: “Should anything

be included in the final dismsures under Fed. R. Civ. P. @§@) that has not previously

11



appeared in the initial Rule 26(1) disclosures a timely Rule 26(e) supplement thereto, the
witness or exhibit probably will be excluded frafifering any testimony under Fed. R. Civ. P.
37(c)(1).” Id. (Scheduling Order a T 2.a).

On September 11, 2018, after the deadline iragpdy the court and just three days
before the discovery cutoff, Mr. White served@aTeed with a supplemental disclosure. Doc.
35-2 at 8. The supplemental disclosure namesyG6tallings, Loretta Blackwell, Henry Jones,
Todd Cannon, Jr., James Wooten, Jeff Patterson, Rémeaxell, Sr., and RogeMaxwell, 1l, as
potential witnessesld. at 4-6. On September 14, 2018, one day before the discovery deadline,
Mr. White served CertainTeed witr. Stallings’s affidavit. SeeDoc. 30. And, after the
deadline for discovery, Mr. White served Carficged with the affidavits signed by Mr. Jones
and Mr. PattersonSeeDocs. 31, 32.

The court conducted a pretrial conferenoeOctober 1, 2018, during which CertainTeed
advised the court that it intended to file motitmstrike evidence from witnesses disclosed for
the first time in Mr. White’s supplemental disclospincluding the affidavits of Mr. Stallings,

Mr. Jones, and Mr. Patterson. Doc. 33 at 22-23r{Br©rder at 1 8.b.iiH). The court gave
CertainTeed until October 5, 2018, to file its motion to strike.at 23 (Pretrial Order at

1 8.b.iii). CertainTeed complied with thd¢adline, moving to strike the supplemental
disclosures. Doc. 34 (Motion to Strike Pl#if's Untimely Amended Rule 26 Disclosures). It
also filed a timely motion for summary judgmegiainst all of Mr. White’s claims. Doc. 37
(Motion for Summary JudgmentResponding to the Motion for Summary Judgment, Mr. White
submitted affidavits from Mr. Stallings, Mr. des, and Mr. Patterson. Doc. 43-13, Doc. 43-16,
Doc. 43-17. Mr. White also submitted transcripi$wo audio recordings of meetings between

Mr. White and Mr. Monroe. Doc. 43-22, Doc. 23- CertainTeed moved to strike Documents

12



43-13, 43-16, 43-17, 43-22, and 43-23. Doc. 44. The parties have completed briefing on all
three pending motions. The court addres3msainTeed’s Motion to Strike Plaintiff's
Opposition Exhibits 13, 16, 17, 22, and 23 beforaify to CertainTeed'Motion for Summary
Judgment.
Il. Analysis
A. Motion to Strike Plaintiff’'s O pposition Exhibits 13, 16, 17, 22, and 23
1. Exhibits 13, 16, and 17

CertainTeed asks the court to strike @fffedavits by Mr. Stdings, Mr. Jones, and
Mr. Patterson because (1) Mr. White failed teritify these individuals in his timely Rule 26
disclosures and (2) the affidavide not comply with Federal Rauof Civil Procedure 56(c).

Doc. 45 at 2-9. Finding CertainTesdirst argument persuasivegetbourt declines to consider
these three affidavits as paftits summary judgment analysis.

Rule 26(a) requires a party to provide initiégdclosures identifying “the name . . . of each
individual likely to have discoverable infoation—along with the subjects of that
information—that the disclosing party may useupport its claims or defenses.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 26(a)(1)(A)(i). After makingn initial Rule 26 disclosure, a party has a continuing duty to
supplement its disclosures “in a timely manneréf plarty learns that isome material respect
the disclosure or response is incomplete.td.Fe Civ. P. 26(e)(1)(A). Mr. White’s Rule 26(a)
initial disclosure did not identifivir. Stallings, Mr. Jong or Mr. Patterson dsdividuals likely
to have discoverable information.” And, whir. White identified these individuals in his
supplemental disclosure, he did not serve iygpemental disclosure on CertainTeed until more

than a month had passed after the court-irsgpaieadline for supplemental disclosures.

13



Mr. White thus did not timely identify Mr. Stailgs, Mr. Jones, and Mr. Patterson as witnesses
as required by Rule 26 and tbeurt’'s Scheduling Order.

“If a party fails to provide information or @htify a witness as reqed by Rule 26(a) or
(e), the party is not allowed to use that infation or witness to suppkvidence on a motion . . .
unless the failure was substantially justifiecharmless.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c). When deciding
whether a failure to disclosejisstified or harmless, a court shdudonsider: “(1) the prejudice
or surprise to the party against whom the testimsmffered; (2) the abilitpf the party to cure
the prejudice; (3) the extent to which introcdwgisuch testimony would shupt the trial; and (4)
the moving party’s bad faith or willfulnessJacobsen v. Deseret Book C287 F.3d 936, 953
(10th Cir. 2002) (quotinyvoodworker’s Supply, Inc. v. Principal Mut. Life Ins.,@@0 F.3d
985, 993 (10th Cir. 1999)). “The party who failednake the required disclosure has the burden
to demonstrate substantial justiton or the lack of harm.Estate of McDermed v. Ford Motor
Co, No. 14-cv-2430-CM-TJJ, 2016 WL 1298096, at *3 (D. Kan. Apr. 1, 2016).

Mr. White’s failure to disclose is not justitle The record establishes that Mr. White, in
the course of his ongoing employment att@ieTeed, knew the identities of his fellow
employees—NMr. Stallings, Mr. Jones, and Matterson—well beforthe August 2018 deadline
for supplemental disclosures. And, Mr. itéh as evidenced by his June 2018 deposition
testimony, knew that these individuals mightéanformation beneficial to his cas8eeDoc.
43-11 at 31 (White Dep. 115:22-116:15) (Mrthite providing secondhand details about
incident involving Mr. Stallings)id. at 41 (White Dep. 155:6—-156:3) (Mr. White providing
secondhand details about incident involving Bones). But, Mr. White waited until mid-
August 2018 to contact the withesses. DocatdZ (Plaintiff's Reponse in Opposition to

Defendant’s Motion to Strike Plaintiff's iposition Exhibits Nos. 13, 16—17 and 22-23 at T 4).
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Nothing prevented Mr. White from identifying M$tallings, Mr. Jones, and Mr. Patterson in a
timely Rule 26(e) supplemental disclostire.

Instead of timely disclosing these witnesdds, White waited tqrovide CertainTeed
these names until a few days before the clogksabvery, at a time when it was impossible for
CertainTeed to schedule depamits before the discovery deadline. And allowing Mr. White to
rely on affidavits from witnesses CertainTesmlild not depose before the deadlines for
discovery and dispositive motis would prejudice Certaig€d. Also, while Mr. White
contends CertainTeed should notdoeprised by the latgisclosure of Mr. Stallings, Mr. Jones,
and Mr. Patterson because Mr. White mentiathedn in his deposition testimony, it is not
CertainTeed’s responsibility to select and rhafghe evidence which Mr. White will rely to
meet his evidentiary burdens. Finally, Mr. Béhsuggests calling a do-over on the discovery
deadline to allow CertainTeed an opportumitydepose the additional withesses and then
supplement its pending motion feummary judgment. Doing sbowever, would delay the trial
and impose unwarranted litigati expenses on CertainTeed. iWlsome circumstances might
warrant this approach, this odeesn’t because Mr. White hassubstantially justified his

untimely conduct.

7 Mr. White argues he experienced difficulty coroing the witnesses to come forward because the
witnesses felt intimidated and feared lietion if they made claims of discrimination against CertainTeed. Doc. 36
at 2, 4 (Plaintiff's Response in Opgition to Defendant Certaii eed’s Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Amended Rule

26 Disclosures at 1 2, 10); Doc. 2 (“Plaintiff's Response in Oppition to Defendant’s Motion to Strike
Plaintiff's Opposition Exhibit Nosl3, 16—17, and 22-23" at { 4ge alsdoc. 36 at 7-8; Doc. 47 at 5. But,

Mr. White fails to support this argument with any citatitmshe record. And none of the affidavits from Mr.
Stallings, Mr. Jones, and Mr. Patterson attest to facts supporting this cont&eaoc. 35-3 (Stallings Aff.),

Doc. 35-4 (Jones Aff.), Doc. 35-5 (Patterson Aff.). In fadiere Mr. Stallings attests that he filed an EEOC charge
alleging discrimination and that CertainTeed reinstated lakfipations thereafter, Do@5-3 at 4 (Stallings Aff. at

19 22-23), one reasonably can infer he was not reluctant to advance a charge of discrimindiibncarsdffer
retaliation when he previously advanced a charge of discrimination. In any event, Mrd@ésteothing to

explain why he waited until mid-August 2018 to contact Mr. Stallings, Mr. Jones, and Mr. Patterson.
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Considering all these matters together, éuglent that Mr. White did not timely identify
Mr. Stallings, Mr. Jones, and Mr. Pattersométsesses or timely prvide CertainTeed with
Mr. Jones and Mr. Patterson’s affidavits. . Mfhite also fails to carry his burden and
demonstrate that his late disclosure was jiestibr harmless. Relying on the sanction provided
by Rule 37(c)(1) and the warning in the ScheduDrder, the court declines to consider
Documents 43-13, 43-16, and 43-17 whendidjating CertainTeed’s Motion for Summary
Judgment.

2. Exhibits 22 and 23

Mr. White secretly recorded two meetings had with Mr. Monroe. Documents 43-22
and 43-23 are transcripts of those audio recgsdirCertainTeed moves to strike Documents 43-
22 and 43-23 on the ground that the transs@pé not accompanied by an authenticating
affidavit and that they contain inadmissible sagr Doc. 45 at 10. Mr. White contends he can
authenticate the recordingstrial and that, under Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d),

Mr. Monroe’s statements are not hearsay. Doc. 47 at 14-15.

“To determine whether genuingsues of material fact makgury trial necessary, a court
necessarily may consider only the evidene would be available to the juryBrown v. Perez
835 F.3d 1223, 1232 (10th Cir. 2016) (quotArgo v. Blue Cross & Ble Shield of Kan., Ingc.
452 F.3d 1193, 1199 (10th Cir. 2006)). While thisgdoet require that the evidence submitted
at summary judgment be “in a form that woulddanissible at trial,” itloes require that “the
content or substance of the evidence [subthdtesummary judgment] must be admissibliel”
(quotingTrevizo v. Adam#55 F.3d 1155, 1160 (10th Cir. 2006)). And, where the evidence

offered at summary judgment is not admissible in its submitted form, it is incumbent on the
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proponent of the evidence to demonstrate how the proponent will present the evidence so that it
is admissible at trialld.
For audio recordings, there is no hard andrastrequiring an affidavit to authenticate
every piece of evidence submitted fonsideration at summary judgmemtrmijo v. Santa Fe
Cty, No. 17-cv-00574-WJ-SCY, 2018 WL 31182906 (D.N.M. June 25, 2018) (citirigaw
Co. v. Mohawk Constr. & Supply C&6.77 F.3d 1164, 1170 (10th Cir. 2009)). Instead, a court
may rely on Federal Rule of Evidence 901(b)’s considerations for authentication, such as the

recording’s “contents,” “substance,” atather distinctivecharacteristics.”ld. (quoting Fed. R.
Evid. 901(b)(4)).

Mr. White did not submit an authenticating d#vit with the transcript of the recording
of his November 2015 meeting with Mr. Monroehketmeeting where Mr. Monroe issued him a
write-up. But, both Mr. White and Mr. Monrgeovided deposition testimony that the meeting
had occurred and testified about the substantieeaiheeting. And, at a trial, Mr. White, as the
individual who recorded the meeting, could aumfic the audio recording. Mr. White thus has
satisfied his burden on the R01 considerations.

This conclusion leads to tlygiestion whether Mr. White can reduce the statements made
during the meeting to admissibleidence. Under the Federal Rules of Evidence, an out-of-court
statement offered to prove the truth of the magtpically qualifies asnadmissible hearsay.

Fed. R. Evid. 801(c), 802. Out-of-court stagemns by an opposing party, however, are not
hearsay if they were “made by the party’s agerémployee on a matter within the scope of that
relationship and while it existed.Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(D)Under this Rule of Evidence,

Mr. Monroe’s statements when he issued White the Rule 9 write-up at the direction of

Mr. Perrier are not hearsay. But if offeredMy. White, his statements and those by a third
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individual on the recording—the Union representative—could not be admitted under Fed. R.
Evid. 801(d)(2)(D) because neither Mr. White nor the Union reptates are opposing parties.
Thus, as offered by Mr. White, the court may coesir. Monroe’s statements for the truth of
the matter asserted under R8&L(d)(2)(D). Likewise, if offered by CertainTeed, the court may
consider Mr. White’s statements under Rule 801j¢NR2 But in contrast, if Mr. White is the
proponent of the offer, the court may consilter White’s and the Union representative’s
statements only for context of Mr. Monroe’s statements.

Turning to the transcript in Document 43-&3s not apparent when this exchange
between Mr. Monroe and Mr. White occurreéind, unlike the conversian in Document 43-22,
the Document 43-23 conversation was not theesiilgf extensive deposition testimony. Also,
portions of Mr. Monroe’s statements are marksedinaudible.” Doc. 43-22 at 2. In sum,

Mr. White has failed to authenticate the transcn Document 43-22, so he has not met his
burden under the goveny legal standar®.

B. Motion for Summary Judgment

1. Legal Standard

Summary judgment is apppriate if the moving paytdemonstrates that “rgenuine
dispute [about] any material fact” exists dhdt it “is entitled to judgment as a matteda#.”

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). When applying thigrstard, the court views the evidence and draws
inferences in the light mostvfarable to the non-moving partifNahno-Lopez v. House825

F.3d 1279, 1283 (10th Cir. 2010). A pliged “issue of fact is ‘gaiine’ ‘if the evidence is such

8 In any event, Mr. White offers this recordingitig to establish that CertainTeed managers knew he
possessed check sheets during his term of employment. Doc. 47 at 15. Mr. White's possessiosluéetseck

inside the CertainTeed plant, while employed by CertainTeed, is not material to the issue whether Mr. White
violated plant rules by removing the check sheets from plant property when CertainTeed initially terminated him in
December 2015.
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that a reasonable jugould return a verdict for theon-moving party’ on the issueld. (quoting
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). And assue of fact is ‘material’
‘if under the substantive law it is essential te gnoper disposition of the claim’ or defenséd’
(quotingAdler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Incl44 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

The moving party bears “botie initial burden of production on a motion for summary
judgment and the burden of establishing that sumpioagment is appropriate as a matter of
law.” Kannady v. City of Kiowgb90 F.3d 1161, 1169 (10th Cir. 2010) (quofimginor v.

Apollo Metal Specialties, Inc318 F.3d 976, 979 (10th Cir. 2002)). To cdhig burden, the

moving party “need not negateemon-movant’s claim, but needly point to an absence of
evidence to support the non-movant’s claimd’ (quotingSigmon v. Cmty. Care HMO, Inc.
234 F.3d 1121, 1125 (10th Cir. 2000)).

If the moving party meets its initial buntiethe non-moving party thay not rest upon its
pleadings, but must set forth specific facts simgya genuine issue for trial [on] those dispositive
matters for which it carries the burden of proofld. (quotingJenkins v. Woqd1 F.3d 988,

990 (10th Cir. 1996))see also Celotex Corp. v. Catret77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986)\nderson

477 U.S. at 248-49. “To accomplish this, the factstrbe identified by reference to affidavits,
deposition transcripts, or speciéghibits incorporated therein Adler, 144 F.3d at 671 (citing
Thomas v. Wichita Coca-Cola Bottling C868 F.2d 1022, 1024 (10th Cir. 1992)).
“Unsubstantiated allegations carry no probatixgght in summary judgment proceedings.”

Bones v. Honeywell Int’l, Inc366 F.3d 869, 875 (10th Cir. 2004) (citiRgillips v. Calhoun

956 F.2d 949, 951 n.3 (10th Cir. 1992)). To survive summary judgment, the non-moving party’s

“evidence, including testimony, must be basedname than mere speculation, conjecture, or

surmise.” Id. (citing Rice v. United State466 F.3d 1088, 1092 (10th Cir. 1999)).
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2. BasicMcDonnell Douglas Framework

A plaintiff advancing a claim of discrimitian or retaliation mayprove his claim with
direct or indirect (circumstantial) evidencéwigg v. Hawker Beechcraft Cor59 F.3d 987,
1000 (10th Cir. 2011). Wheredlplaintiff relies on circumstantial evidence, MeDonnell
Douglasburden-shifting framework applie®A\damson v. Multi Cmty. Diversified Servs., Inc.
514 F.3d 1136, 1145 (10th Cir. 2008). Under thasnfework, the plaintiff has an initial burden
to make out a prima facie cas#ones v. Barnhayt349 F.3d 1260, 1266 (10th Cir. 2003). In its
most basic form, a prima facie case requires thatffaio establish: (1) he “is a member of a
protected class”; (2) he “suffered an advemsgloyment action”; and }3the challenged action
occurred under circumstances giving tisen inference of discriminationBennett v.
Windstream Commc'ns., In@92 F.3d 1261, 1266 (10th Cir. 2015). As outlined below,
depending on the nature of the discrimioatalleged and the adverse employment action
supporting the claim, hybrids tiis basic statement of thvdcDonnell Douglagramework
apply. If the plaintiff sustainkis initial burden, “the burden 8ts to the employer to offer a
legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for the challenged actiSelenke v. Med. Imaging of
Colo. 248 F.3d 1249, 1259 (10th Cir. 2001). K tthefendant advances a legitimate
nondiscriminatory reason, then the burden sbiisk to the plaintiffto prove the reason “is
merely a pretext for unlawful discriminationld.

3. Count | — Discrimination Under the ADA

An employer subject to the ADA must notisdriminate against a qualified individual on
the basis of disability in regard to job dipption procedures, thi@ring, advancement, or
discharge of employees, employee compensatbnyaining, and other terms, conditions, and

privileges of employment.” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 12112(a)he concluding phrase “terms, conditions,
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and privileges of employment” precludes an employer from creating a work environment hostile
toward employees covered by the ADBanman v. Johnson Cty., Ka893 F.3d 1151, 1155—

56 (10th Cir. 2004). And, the ADA further dedis discrimination to include “not making
reasonable accommodations to the known physicalental limitations of an otherwise

gualified individual with a disabtly who is an . . . employeanless such covered entity can
demonstrate that the accommodation would isepan undue hardship on the operation of the
business of such covered entity?2 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A).

Count | of Mr. White’s Complaint advanctsee theories in support of his claim for
disability discrimination: (1) CertainTeddiled to provide him a reasonable accommodation by
not permitting him to wear a respirator mask; (2) CertainTeed terminated his employment
because of his disability; and (3) CertainTéadassed him for weaig a respirator mask,
creating a work environment hostile toward induals with disabilities. Doc. 1 at 10-11
(Compl. at 11 81-88). The court concludes nortbede three theories of discrimination can
survive summary judgment.

a. Failure to Accommodate

CertainTeed contends Mr. White failed to ex$ighis administrative remedies in a timely
manner for any failure to acconmaate that may have occurrédoc. 38 at 27-33. “Title | of
the ADA requires a plaintiff to exhaust [his]rathistrative remedies before filing suitJones v.
U.P.S., Inc.502 F.3d 1176, 1183 (10th Cir. 2007). A plaintiff normally may not bring an ADA

claim “based upon claims that were not pdira timely-filed EEOC charge for which the

9 CertainTeed also argues: (1) its denial of Mr. White’'s accommodation request did ridn res@ldverse
employment action; (2) Mr. White failed to engage in the interactive process by not providing an adequate doctor
note; and (3) Mr. White’s request for a full-face reafmir mask was not a reasonable accommodation where he
could perform his job without wearirgmask. Doc. 38 at 43—49. BesalCertainTeed’s failure-to-exhaust

argument is dispositive, the coumdis it unnecessary to address Certagdls additional arguemts for summary
judgment.
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plaintiff has receivea right-to-sue letter."See Foster v. Ruhrpumped65 F.3d 1191, 1194
(10th Cir. 2004) (stating such in context of Title VII clairsge alsal2 U.S.C. § 12117(a)
(incorporating administrative rerg provision of Title VII into ADA) To file an EEOC charge
in a timely manner, an employee must file tharge within 180 daysf the alleged unlawful
employment action unless the employee also uriestproceedings with a state or local agency,
in which case the employee has 300 days tdfdecharge. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(e)(1). And,
“each discrete incident of [discrimination] ctitges its own ‘unlawfluemployment practice’
for which administrative remedies must be exhaust&thitinez v. Potter347 F.3d 1208, 1210
(10th Cir. 2003) (citindNat’l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morga86 U.S. 101, 110-13 (2002)).
Thus, an EEOC charge is timely for any given diteincident of digémination only if filed
within 300 days of the incidenMorgan 536 U.S. at 110.

Mr. White filed his EEOC charge on May 2016. Doc. 38-27 at 2. The EEOC charge
thus was timely and effective for any discrigteidents occurring oor after August 5, 201%.
Mr. White, however, requested to wear a redpirmask in February 2015. And, Mr. White
admitted during his deposition that, by the ehtlay 2015, CertainTeed had denied his request
and he ceased wearing a masknguiring about wearing a maskoc. 43-11 at 68 (White Dep.
261:5-262:7); Doc. 38-7 at 31 (White Dep. 323:11-B2}4: As such, Mr. White filed his EEOC
charge at least two months too late toeliyrexhaust his administrative remedies for
CertainTeed’s refusal to let him wear a respiratask. The court therafe concludes that any

claim of discrimination based anfailure to accommodate fails.

10 Mr. White benefits from the 300-day period in42.C. § 2000e-5(e)(1) besmihe simultaneously filed
his charge with the Kansas Human Rights CommissBeeDoc. 38-27 at 2.
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b. Termination

When a plaintiff asserts a claim d@iscrimination under the ADA based on his
termination, he can establish a prima fa@ee of discrimination through circumstantial
evidence by showing: “(1) he is disabled witthe meaning of the ADA; (2) he can perform,
either with or without reasobée accommodation, the essentiatdtion of the desired job; and
(3) ‘that [the defendant] terminated him because of his disabilityBartee v. Michelin N. Am.,
Inc., 374 F.3d 906, 912 n.4 (10th Cir. 2004) (quothite v. York Int'l Corp.45 F.3d 357, 361
(10th Cir. 1995)). For purposes of summaygment, CertainTeed concedes Mr. White can
satisfy the first two elements of his prima facase, but argues he cannot satisfy the third
element. Doc. 38 at 37-38. To satisfy thedtelement, a plairffi must “present some
affirmative evidence that disabilityas a determining factan the employer’s decision.”
Morgan v. Hilti, Inc, 108 F.3d 1319, 1323 (10th Cir. 1997) (drasis added). “This burden is
‘not onerous’ but it is alstmot empty or perfunctory.”ld. at 1323—-24 (citation omitted)
(quotingEnnis v. Nat'l Ass’n of Bus. & Educ. Radio, &3 F.3d 55, 59 (4th Cir. 1995)).

Mr. White tries to satisfy his burden by relying Batler v. City of Prairie Village, Kan.
172 F.3d 736 (10th Cir. 1999), and the alleged faadthle only received Rule 9 write-ups after
his request for an accommodation. Doc. 48&#87. As an initial matter, Mr. White’s
argument isn’t factually accurateat least not completely—because the November 2015 Rule 9
write-up issued by Mr. Monroe wa®t Mr. White’s first Rule 9 \alation. Instead, a review of

Mr. White’s own deposition testimony reveals Mvhite received a Rule 9 written warning on

n Alternatively, a plaintiff may offe“direct evidence” of discriminationJones 502 F.3d at 1188 n.6. To
establish discrimination with direct evidence, a plaintiff “must prove ‘the existence of a festiéwithout
inference or presumption™ by identifying evidence such as a discriminatory policyealdmpthe employerld.
(quotingHall v. Dep't of Labor 476 F.3d 847, 854 (10th Cir. 2007)). Mr. White does not contend that his ADA
discrimination claim may survive summary judgment based on direct evidence.
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December 31, 2014, two months before he reigaeany accommodation. Doc. 43-11 at 11-12
(White Dep. 36:7-37:5). But, even if Mr. Whitad not received a Rule 9 written warning
shortly before requesting an accommodation, his argument would fail as a matter of law.

Relying onButler, Mr. White essentially argues that his request for accommodation and
his Rule 9 write-ups and termination occurrethim a sufficiently close time period to allow a
jury to infer that his accommodation regtiand his breathing condition motivated
CertainTeed’s actions. Thefté Circuit has “repeatedly cegnized temporal proximity
between protected conduct and termination kevaat evidence of a caal connection sufficient
to justify an inference dfliscriminatory] motive.” Metzler v. Fed. Home Loan Bank of Topeka
464 F.3d 1164, 1171 (10th Cir. 2006) (internal quotatharks omitted). A plaintiff may rely on
temporal proximity alone, however, wher ttequest for accommodation and the adverse
employment action arevery closelyconnected in time.’Anderson v. Coors Brewing Cd.81
F.3d 1171, 1179 (10th Cir. 1999) (emphasis in original). While no bright line defines how close
in time the events must occur for a plaintiff to rely on temporal proximity alone, the Tenth
Circuit has held that a one-and-a-half-montp gas sufficient while a three-month gap was too
long. Metzler, 464 F.3d at 1172 (citingamirez v. Okla. Depbf Mental Health41 F.3d 584,

596 (10th Cir. 1994)Richmond v. ONEOK, Inc120 F.3d 205, 209 (10th Cir. 1997)).

Mr. White requested an accommodatiorrebruary 2015 and, by May 2015, he stopped
wearing a respirator mask. But, Mr. Whitel diot receive his first post-accommodation request
Rule 9 write-up for another six months—imMember 2015. And, CertainTeed did not attempt
to terminate his employment until December 20This multi-month gap between Mr. White’s
actions based on his disability and the igisgary action imposetly CertainTeed is too

expansive for Mr. White to relgn temporal proximity aloneCf. Butler, 172 F.3d at 749-50
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(holding that timing of events, when consideadahgside evidence of disparate treatment both
with respect to termination and handling ddiptiff's internal complaint of discrimination,
allowed for inference of discrimination). Yet, Mr. White does not ditezicourt to any other
evidence supporting an inference of discriminatidhus, as a matter of law, Mr. White has not
sustained his burden on the thirdrakent of his prima facie case.
C. Hostile Work Environment

In a final attempt to make out a pringcie claim of ADA discrimination, Mr. White
argues that the panoply of evehtsexperienced after he regted an accommaodation for his
breathing condition created a ktilsswork environment.SeeDoc. 43 at 79-80 (listing events
Mr. White believes amount to harassmieased on disability). To advance an ADA
discrimination claim based on a hostile work earment, a plaintiff must show more than
“general harassmentWilliams v. FedEx Corp. Sery849 F.3d 889, 897 (10th Cir. 2017). The
elements of a claim for hostile work environment under the ADA are:

(1) the plaintiff is a member of a protectgup (i.e., he is “disabled” as defined

by the ADA); (2) the plaintiff was subegt to unwelcoméharassment; (3) the

harassment was based on the alleged disability; and (4) due to the harassment’s

severity or pervasiveness, the harassment altered a term, condition, or privilege of

the plaintiff’s employment and creatad abusive working environment).
Callahan v. Commc’n Graphics, In&57 F. App’x 739, 746—47 (10th Cir. 2016) (citidgrsco
Corp. v. Rennerd75 F.3d 1179, 1186 (10th Cir. 2007)). CQehto the primdacie case of a
hostile work environment claim, the plaintiff “mushow that a rational jury could find that the
workplace was permeated with discriminatorymidation, ridicule, and insult, that is
sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the ctinds of the victim's employment and create an

abusive working environmentWilliams, 849 F.3d at 897 (quotir@enry v. Fed. Home Loan

Bank of Topekal55 F.3d 1257, 1261 (10th Cir. 1998)). &xamining whether a plaintiff has
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made the requisite showing, ‘[the court lookshtiothe circumstances, including the frequency
of the discriminatory conduct; iteverity; whether it is physically threatening or humiliating, or
a mere offensive utterance and whether it lsoeably interferes withn employee’s work
performance.” Id. (quotingMorgan, 536 U.S. at 116). The court must “consider the work
atmosphere ‘both objectively and subjectivébpking at all the circumstances from the

perspective of a reasonable pergothe plaintiff's position.” Herrera v. Lufkin Indus., Ing¢.
474 F.3d 675, 680 (10th Cir. 2007) (quotiMgCowan v. All Star Maint., Inc273 F.3d 917,
923 (10th Cir. 2001)). “[A] few isolated irbents” of remarks expressing hostility toward
individuals with disabilities Wi not suffice; “[ijnstead, therenust be a steady barrage of
opprobrious [disability-based] commentdd. (quotingChavez v. New Mexic897 F.3d 826,
831 (10th Cir. 2005)).

CertainTeed argues Mr. White has not advareedence showing that he was subject to
harassment based on disability, no less severpamdsive harassment that affected the terms
of his employment. Doc. 39 at 36-37. In reg®mMr. White directs theourt to the inquiries
and verbal reprimands he received from Mrel§h Mr. Perrier, and Mr. Wiegert about his
donning of a respirator mask in February 20lb.at 79. The court doubts whether these
inquiries could amount to harassment on the bagissability. But, even assuming a reasonable
jury could view these inquiries as harassihg, court has no difficultgoncluding that any
harassment was not so severe or pervasivét ttatld have affected Mr. White’s terms of
employment. The inquiries at issue ladbed a few weeks, were calibrated to acquire
information from Mr. White about his respioay condition, and wereot accompanied by any

derogatory or insulting remarks. In fact, Mvhite concedes he never heard any manager at

CertainTeed make a derogatoryirmsulting disability-based rema Doc. 43-11 at 43 (White
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Dep. 164:10-23). And, where Mr. White admits ek raldit need to wear a mask to perform any
of his job functionsid. at 69 (White Dep. 265:18-22), it is raggparent (1) how the inquiries by
CertainTeed managers affected the terms ofWhite’'s employment or (2) that a reasonable
employee in Mr. White’s position would haf@und his workplace hostile. Mr. White has not
satisfied his burden of making a prima facie aafs# hostile work environment, and the court
thus grants CertainTdes Motion for Summaryudgment against Counti.
4. Count Il — ADA Retaliation

In Count I, Mr. White alleges the actiottsat he advanced in support of his ADA
discrimination claim also support a claim that @erTeed retaliated against him for requesting a
reasonable accommodation. Doc. 1 at 11-12 (.omb 71 89-95). Under the ADA, “no person
shall discriminate against anydiridual because such individuaks opposed any act or practice
made unlawful by [the ADA] or because such \ndiial made a charge, testified, assisted, or
participated in any manner in an investiga, proceeding, or hearing under [the ADA].” 42
U.S.C. § 12203(a). Where a plaintiff rel@s circumstantial evidence to advance his ADA
retaliation claim, the familiaanalytical framework fronrMcDonnell Douglasapplies. Foster v.
Mountain Coal Co., LLC830 F.3d 1178, 1186 (10th Cir. 201@) establish a prima facie case
for retaliation, “the plaintiff musprove that (1) he ‘engagedanprotected activity’; (2) he was
‘subjected to an adverse employment actidpsequent to or contemporaneous with the
protected activity’; and (3) there was ‘a casualrextion between the protected activity and the

adverse employment action.Td. (brackets omitted) (quotingnderson181 F.3d at 1178).

12 Mr. White tries to bootstrap the write-ups he reediand his termination to his hostile work environment
claim. But, the court’s earlier conclusion that no evidewittesupport an inference that those events were related to
Mr. White’s disability disposes of Mr. White’s argument.
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CertainTeed contends Mr. White fails to satisfy the third element because (1) the
individuals who issued his weitups and who terminated his goyment did not know about his
breathing condition; and (2) Mr. White cannot rely on temporal proximity alone to establish
causation where more than six months had ethpseveen Mr. White’s last attempt to wear a
mask and his termination. Doc. 38 at 49-51.

Mr. White experienced three potential adeeesnployment actions after requesting an
accommodation: (1) the November 2015 writebypgMr. Monroe; (2) the December 2015 write-
ups and termination at the direction of Merrier and Mr. Hughes; and (3) the January 2016
termination at the direction of Mr. Billings, MPerrier, and Mr. Weigert. CertainTeed correctly
points out that to establish ction between the protectedigity and adverse employment
action, the plaintiff must demonate that the decisionmaker wasaa of the protected activity.
See Lincoln v. BNSF Ry. C800 F.3d 1166, 1213 (10th Cir. 2018) (reaching same conclusion
within context of retaliation claim under the Fedé&ailroad Safety Act). But a reasonable jury
could conclude that Mr. Mooe and Mr. Weigert both knew of Mr. White’s accommodation
request. Specifically, in Felsry 2015, Mr. Shelly sent MMonroe an e-mail discussing
Mr. White’s breathing condition angquest to wear a respiratoask. Doc. 38-10 at 44. And,
he copied Mr. Weigert on the e-maltl. Having rejected CertainTeed’s first argument, the
court turns to its second argument.

Like with his ADA discrimination claim, MAWhite tries to estdish causation by relying
on the write-ups and his termination occurringyaatfter his request for an accommodation. But,
as with his ADA discrimination claim, the writgps Mr. White received and his termination

occurred at least five months after Mr. White laadl tried to wear a respirator mask. And, more
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than eight months had passed since heéauested an accommaiden. Thus, Mr. White
cannot rely on temporal proximity alone.

Because he offers no other evidence to sugpsrADA retaliation claim, this conclusion
ends the analysis. CertainTeed is entitlesutmmary judgment on thetadiation claim asserted
by Count [113

5. Count lll — Race Discrimination Under Title VIl and § 1981

In Count Ill, Mr. White makes claims for race discrimination under Title VIl and 42
U.S.C. § 1981. Doc. 1 at 12-14 (Compl. at §4192). It is unlawful under Title VIl for an
employer “to fail or refuse to hire or to disecha any individual, or dterwise to discriminate
against any individual with respect to his cangation, terms of conditions, or privileges of
employment, because of such individual’s racé2’U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a). Section 1981 of Title
42, meanwhile, provides a cause of action wdreemployee can establish that his employer
engaged in “intentional discrimination” on the basis of rdgarham v. Xerox Corpl18 F.3d
836, 839 (10th Cir. 1994). Where a plaintiff rel@scircumstantial evidence to advance a claim
of discrimination under either Title Vtr 8 1981, his claim is subject to thieDonnell Douglas
burden-shifting frameworkSee id(applying framework to § 1981 clainfjischer v. Forestwood

Co, 525 F.3d 972, 978 (10th Cir. 2008) (applyframework in Title VII setting).

3 Mr. White also suggests CertainTeed retaliated against him after he filed his EEOC cleaigerioyng
accusations against him at the August@@rbitration hearing. But Certaiedd argues Mr. White failed to exhaust
his administrative remedies for any post-EEOC Charge retaliation, and Mr. White did not meaningfully respond to
that argument. Likewise, Mr. White failed to identifyyazase law suggesting that the administrative exhaustion
requirement does not apply to a retaliation claim. Hinfato respond substantively to CertainTeed’s argument,
Mr. White has abandoned his ADA retaliation claim to the extent it relied on actions that post-date his EEOC
charge.See Zane v. Kramet95 F. Supp. 3d 1243, 1256 (W.D. Okla. 2016) (plaintiff waived claim where he did
not respond to dispositive argument raised in defendants’ motion for summary juddgtabmé:; v. Unified Gov't

of Wyandotte Cty./Kan. City, Karv.2 F. Supp. 2d 1237, 1250-51 (D. Kan. 1999) (“[T]he court deems plaintiff's
failure to respond to an argument raised in defendants’ papers tantamount to an expressnadiofl any such
claim.”); see also Klaassen v. Atkins@48 F. Supp. 3d 1106, 1180 n.10 (D. Kan. 2018) (concluding plaintiff
abandoned claim where he did not respond to defendant’s argument).
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Responding to the summary judgment motion, Mr. White argues his race discrimination
claim is based on CertainTeed (1) issuing hineRuwrite-ups and terminating his employment,
and (2) creating a hostile work environmentAdrican-Americans. Doc. 43 at 81-84. The court
addresses each basis in turn.

To establish a prima facie case of discnation based on an unlawful discharge, “a

plaintiff must demonstrate: ‘(H)e was a member of a protectddss; (2) he was qualified and
satisfactorily performing his jolgand (3) he was terminated undécumstances giving rise to an
inference of discrimination.”Barlow v. C.R. England, Inc703 F.3d 497, 505 (10th Cir. 2012)
(quotingSalguero v. City of Clovj866 F.3d 1168, 1175 (10th Cir. 2004)). CertainTeed’s motion
contests Mr. White’s ability to satisfy the thirgeeient of his prima facie case. Doc. 38 at 38—40.
A plaintiff may rely on “a varietyf circumstances” to suppah inference of discrimination,
including “actions or remark®ade by decisionmakers thatutd be viewed as reflecting a
discriminatory animus” and “preferential treatmgiven to employees outside the protected
class.” Plotke v. White405 F.3d 1092, 1101 (10th Cir. 2005) (quoi@igertkova v. Conn. Gen.
Life Ins. Co, 92 F.3d 81, 91 (2d Cir. 1996)). Mr. Whities on both types of circumstanéés.
But neither circumstance is supported by adegenatience to allow a jury to conclude that
CertainTeed terminated Mr. White’'s employmantler circumstances givinge to an inference
of discrimination.

Mr. White seeks to rely on several statememd actions by CertainTeed managers that

he argues establish racial aninaustheir part. But, a majority of Mr. White’s purported evidence

14 Mr. White also argues that the timing of his termination vis-a-vis his efforts to wearrat@spiask
supports a claim of race discrimination. dd3 at 83. It is not, however,@grent how Mr. White'fforts to wear
a respirator mask and his breathing condition can assist his claiatéatiscrimination. Mr. White's kitchen-sink
approach to advancing his individual and distinct discrimination claims is not a productive one.
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comes from the affidavits by Mr. $liags, Mr. Jones, and Mr. PattersoBeeDoc. 43 at 48—-52
(Response to Summary Judgmenaiftiff's Statement of Additional Uncontroverted Facts at
19 18-46). The court already has excluttese affidavits from consideratiosee supra.
Section Il.LA.1. And, almost all of the evidernde. White offered through his own deposition is
either based on secondhand knowledge or speculdtidact, the only episode of animus which
Mr. White has offered admissible testimony is. [Rerrier calling an African-American employee
“boy,” while poking the employee. But, evhere, Mr. White’s knowledge of the event is
secondhand,e,, it is inadmissible hearsay. Dat3-11 at 56-57 (White Dep. 215:8-217:15).
This contrasts with admissible testimony by Mrtriee, who denied that he called the employee
“boy.” Doc. 43-19 at 9 (Perrier Dep. 29:21-32:6p, Mr. White does not have any potentially
helpful, admissible evidence abdhis alleged incidentBut, even assuming a jury might find
Mr. Perrier's denial not credihl¢his purported lone remark laysingle CertainTeed manager is
insufficient to establish discriminatory animuSee Cone v. Longmont United Hosp. Assh
F.3d 526, 531 (10th Cir. 1994) (collecting cases Ingldihat single or stray remark is insufficient
to establish discriminatory animus by deaisnakers). In the end, Mr. White, by failing to
acquire and disclose admissible evidence froeretinployees who had firsthand knowledge of the
alleged racially charged incidents, has faileflsuimmary judgment bunde He has not adduced
adequate evidence of discriminatory animus bgtad@Teed’s managers permit an inference of
discrimination.

Next, Mr. White tries to compare himselfgeveral Caucasian employees. Evidence of
“dissimilar treatment between similarly situag@wtected and non-protiec employees may give
rise to an inference of discriminationEnglish v. Colo. Dep’t of Corrs248 F.3d 1002, 1011

(10th Cir. 2001). “When comparing the relattveatment of similarly situated minority and non-
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minority employees, the comparison need not lsedan identical violations of identical work
rules; however, the violations must be of comparable seriousnessBut, “[s]imilarly situated
employees are those who deal vilie same supervisand are subject to the same standards
governing performance ewaltion and discipline.”Aramburu v. Boeing Cp112 F.3d 1398,
1404 (10th Cir. 1997) (emphasis adyléquotation marks omitted).

Mr. White’'s comparator evidence falls wokjushort of this standard. Mr. White’s
Statement of Additional Uncontroverted Faitentifies ten employees whom Mr. White
contends are similarly situated to him:

Gerald Scott (cussing out employees)ryé&/ice (mistreating employees), Darrell

Wright (refused to stay over on a shift), Rick Crumly (stole copper), Roger

Maxwell, Sr. (stealing), Lloyd DownDPave Van Goethem (stealing), Roger

Lankenau (called an African-American employee a monkey), John Duncan

(threatened an African-American empé&ywith a gun), and an unnamed package

labeler (drugs).

Doc. 43 at 50 (Response to Summary JudgmengrBéatt of Additional Uncontroverted Facts at
1 35).

Four of these purported comparators didwotk at CertainTeed’s Kansas City plant
while Mr. Perrier and Mr. Bilhgs worked at the plaft. Mr. Perrier worked in Kansas City from
2013 until June 2017. Doc. 38-2 at 3 (PerriepD&3-6). Mr. Billings served as the HR
Manager for the plant from December 2015 tigio November 2016. Doc. 38-9 at 2 (Billings
Decl. § 3). But, according to Mr. Whitedeposition testimony, Mr. Scott, Mr. Vice,

Mr. Maxwell, Mr. Down, Mr. VanGoethempa Mr. Crumly all committed their purported

infractions before 2013. Thus, these infractions happened before Mr. Perrier or Mr. Billings

% As for Mr. Weigert, the recordioes not reveal when Mr. Weigert séak working at CertainTeed’s Kansas
City plant. But, Mr. Weigert stopped working at the plant by early spring 2016 8Bet at 4 (Barnes Dep. 12:1-
16)), and Mr. White does not advance any evidence demonstrating that Mr. Weigert managedeaimgividuals
he identifies as comparators.
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assumed their positions at CertainTe&ahc. 43-11 at 26—28 (White Dep. 94:13-22, 101:5-24,
102:19-103:8, 103:12-104:13). Conversely, Mr.ghfriand Mr. Duncan committed their
purported infractions in 2018—after Mr. Perrier,.MVeigert, and Mr. Billings had departed their
positions at CertainTeed’s Kansas City pf&nlid. at 30, 32 (White Dep. 110:24-111:1, 117:4—
12). And, Mr. White offers no evidence that any of these employees were managed by any of the
managers who managed him.

Mr. White’'s arguments based on Mr. Lankeraand the unnamed package labeler won't
suffice because Mr. White lacks any firsth&mdwledge of their pyoorted infractions.See idat
29 (White Dep. 108:15-21) (admitting he did nbserve incident involving unnamed package
labeler)id. at 30-31 (White Dep. 112:24-113:8¥faitting only secondhand knowledge of
incident involving Mr. Lankenau)Indeed, Mr. White does notadtify any evidence to support
his assertions that these individuals actually c@teththe infractions he attributes to them other
than his own deposition testimony. And in ttegtimony, he concedes that his “knowledge”
about their infractions is entirely secondta Also, Mr. White’s secondhand account about
Mr. Lankenau defeats his argument of disparaténtreat. While Mr. White testified that he did
not think Mr. Lankenau receivexhy formal discipline for using racially charged language,

Mr. White acknowledged Mr. Lankau received counselingd. at 31 (White Dep. 114:8-18).
Meanwhile, when Mr. White was accused of nmgksexually suggestive remarks about a female
employee at CertainTeed, he receicednseling, as opposed to disciplirid. at 10 (White Dep.
29:4-32:14).

Even assuming Mr. White’s job perforn@missues and his removal of company

documents from CertainTeed property are compataltee infractions ofhe individuals he has

16 Incidentally, Mr. White admits MiDuncan received a susgéon for his conduct. Doc. 43-11 at 31-32
(White Dep. 116:21-117:3).
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identified—an assumption the court doubts but se®st address—none of these individuals were
treated differently by the decisionmakers vibominated Mr. White’s employment. Having
neither established discriminatory animus onghe of CertainTeed managers nor identified a
similarly situated Caucasian employee who wasiglised differently, Mr. White fails to satisfy
the third element of his prima facie case. Toert; therefore, grantSertainTeed’s Motion for
Summary Judgment as to Count .
6. Count IV — National Origin Di scrimination Under Title VII
In Count IV, Mr. White asserts a claim fortimal origin discrimination under Title VII.
Doc. 1 at 14-15 (Compl. at 1 103—-08). Titlé pHohibits employers from discriminating
against an employee based on the employeé@nah origin. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1).
“Accompanying regulations define national-origiiscrimination as hie denial of equal
employment opportunity because of an individualishis or her ancestor’glace of origin; or
because an individual has the phgsicultural or linguistic charaeristics of a national origin
group.” Sidlo v. Millercoors, LLC718 F. App’x 718, 726 (10th Cir. 2018) (quoting 29 C.F.R. §
1606.1). To establish a prima fadase of national origin disgrination based on termination, a
plaintiff must prove (1) he “wagf a protected national origin{2) he “was qualified to perform
the job from which [he] was removed”; and (®) “was discharged under circumstances giving
rise to an inference of discriminationMetoyer v. Kan.874 F. Supp. 1198, 1202 (D. Kan.
1995).
CertainTeed argues Mr. Whiteshtailed to satisfy the third element of his prima facie
case. Mr. White contends that he can dstalzausation between higtional origin and his
discipline and termination bagsen CertainTeed managerg (haking derogatory comments

about Americans and (2) speaking a foreign langwelgen he approached them. As Mr. White
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does not speak the language which Mr. PerndrMr. Weigert spoke, his assertion that they
spoke ill of Americans when they spoke a fgrelanguage is entirely speculative. It does not
advance his claim.

Mr. White’s attempt to prove discrimination based on comments by Mr. Perrier and
Mr. Weigert presents a slightly closer questi If Mr. White had advanced admissible evidence
about all the alleged comments, he might hestablished a jury question whether CertainTeed
decisionmakers harbored animus toward Aozrs. But, Mr. White relies largely on
secondhand accounts, irreducitbeadmissible testimony. Mr. White’s only admissible
evidence consists ofgsemony from Mr. Billings who testified about a single comment that
suggests animus against Americans. NamelyBillings testified that he heard a manager call
Americans “stupid” on a single occasioBeeDoc. 43-6 at 17 (Billings Dep. 64:15-17). The
Tenth Circuit repeatedly has heltht a single, stray remark issinfficient to permit an inference
of discrimination and createjury issue in a Titl®/Il discrimination case See Congel4 F.3d at
531 (collecting cases). Because Mr. White’'magible evidence consists of exactly that—a
single, stray remark—he has rsistained his prima facie la@n for his national origin
discrimination claim. The court thus grastsmmary judgment again€ount IV’s national

origin claim.

o Mr. White heard these statemefiitsn other hourly employees and daed argue that the statements to

him by other hourly employees are not hearsay under Rule 801(d)(2)(D). Nor could he under Tenth Circui
precedent.See Ellis v. J.R.’s Cty. Stores, In¢79 F.3d 1184, 1202 (10th Cir. 2015) (“[U]nder our controlling
precedent, an employee’s statements are not attributable to her employer as a party-opponentiadmission
employment dispute unless the employee was involved in the decisionmaking process affecting the employment
action at issue. (quotintphnson v. Weld Cty., Col&a94 F.3d 1202, 1208-09 (10th Cir. 2010))).
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7. Pretext as an Alternative Ground for Granting Summary Judgment
on Discrimination Claims

Even if Mr. White had sustained his burdemhis prima facie case for his disability,
race, or national origin discrimination claimssbd on the Rule 9 write-ups and his termination,
the court still would grant summary judgmegainst all those claims. In response to
Mr. White’s allegations of discriminatn, CertainTeed has provided legitimate
nondiscriminatory reasons for the adverse empkayt actions relied on by Mr. White. First,
CertainTeed contends Mr. Pierrand Mr. Hughes held a godaith belief that Mr. White
neglected his job duties by failing to maintair ahean the washwater area. Doc. 38 at 52—-54.
To support this belief, CertainTeed has adducedissible evidence in the form of pictures of
the washwater area. Doc. 38-3 at 14-18; Doc. 38-5s&elalsdoc. 43-44 at 2—-4. The
summary judgment facts establish that theseq@raphs were takenaittly after several of
Mr. White’s shifts and were attached to #enailed complaints Mr. Perrier and Mr. Hughes
received from Shift D employeefoc. 38-3 at 14-18; Doc. 38-5 atsge alsdoc. 43-44 at 2—

4. Second, CertainTeed contends Mr. Whitetermgon of the check sheets after his initial
termination justified his final termination rmnuary 2016. Doc. 38 at 55-56. To support this
reason, CertainTeed relies on Mr. Billings’s statement about CertainTeed’s protocol prohibiting
employees from removing documents containirfigrimation about the plant production process.
Doc. 38-9 at 5 (Billings Decl.  23).

Because CertainTeed has advanced legitimate nondiscriminatory reasons for its adverse
employment actions, the burden shifts back toWhite to establish that CertainTeed’s reasons
are a pretext contrived to conceal discriminati®elenke248 F.3d at 1259. “A plaintiff may
show pretext by demonstrating tipeoffered reason is factually false,” or that ‘discrimination

was a primary factor in the employer’s decisionDéPaula v. Easter Seals El Mirad@59
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F.3d 957, 970 (10th Cir. 2017) (quotifigbor v. Hilti, Inc, 703 F.3d 1206, 1218 (10th Cir.
2013)). “This is often accomplished ‘by reveglweakness, implausibilities, inconsistencies,
incoherences, or contradictions in the employpridffered reason, such that a reasonable fact
finder could deem the employersason unworthy of credence.ltl. (quotingTabor, 703 F.3d
at 1216). In evaluating a plaintiff's pretextasving, a court “may not second guess the business
judgment of the employer.1d. (quotingDewitt v. Sw. Bell Tel. Co845 F.3d 1299, 1307 (10th
Cir. 2017)). “Evidence that the employer ‘shonlat have made the termination decision—for
example, that the employer was mistaken edysoor business judgment—is not sufficient to
show that the employer’s explanatis unworthy of credibility.” Id. at 970-71 (quoting
Swackhammer v. Sprint/United Mgmt. G493 F.3d 1160, 1169-70 (10th Cir. 2007)). And a
court must examine the facts supporting ttheease employment action “as they appearfed]
the person making the decisjbasking whether the decisionke “honestly believed those
reasons and acted in gofaith upon those beliefs.Id. (emphasis in original) (first quoting
EEOC v. C.R. England, In®644 F.3d 1028, 1044 (10th Cir. 2011), then quoBagckhammer
493 F.3d at 1170).

To meet his burden, Mr. White first redien the evidence he advanced to show
causation.SeeDoc. 43 at 71-72, 73 (identifying animass the part of decisionmakers and
differential treatment of African-Americans bases for finding pretext). Mr. White’s causation
arguments, as discussed in this court’s eaallysis, are unsupported by admissible evidence.
Thus, his causation arguments ta establish pretext.

Next, Mr. White argues that CertainTeeteéason for issuing Rule 9 write-ups and
terminating his employment are weak and inconsistehtat 72—73. On the gravamen of his

claim—nhis January 2016, finalrtaination—Mr. White advancedsvo arguments. First, he
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contends that CertainTeed’s fieved reason is weak because a former supervisor advised him to
maintain his check sheets and Mr. Monroe kinewnaintained check sheets. But the argument
in Mr. White’s memorandum only tells half the story. While CertainTeed permitted employees
to maintain possession of check shest€ertainTeed property, no supesor gave Mr. White
permission to take the sheef§ CertainTeed property, particulad§ter CertainTeed initially
terminated Mr. White. And, as Mr. White admittduring his deposition, he knew he could not
take the check sheets off company prope8geDoc. 38-7 at 7 (White Dep. 75:7-11)
(Mr. White, in response and trying explain why he kept the ebk sheets, stated: “I know you
can’'t take company — off company property .”). In sum, not objecting to Mr. White
possessing check sheg&tthe plant does not weaken CertainTeed’s decision to terminate
Mr. White for removing the check sheétsmthe plant

Second, Mr. White contends that eveRértainTeed had a protocol prohibiting
employees from removing confidential documents from plant premises, the check sheets are not
confidential because they were displayed inithe plant and because they do not contain
information about plant produoti. Doc. 43 at 72. That tlsheck sheets may have been
displayed within the plant says nothing abowt ¢bnfidentiality of thenformation on the check
sheets. None of the evidence in the summadgment record suggests CertainTeed exposed the
interior of its plant to anyonkeut CertainTeed employeeAnd, reviewing the check sheets
submitted by CertainTeed demonstrates that tteegontain information about CertainTeed’s
production processSee, e.gDoc. 39-1 at 5 (listing machinery speeds and settings during
production). This observation supfs Mr. Billings’s contention @t he held a good-faith belief
that Mr. White’s possession of the check shefftsampus violated jpht protocol and was

grounds for termination
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Turning to the Rule 9 write-ups and higial termination in December 2015, Mr. White
argues CertainTeed'’s reasons for these actiontin inconsistencies. First, Mr. White
contends Mr. Monroe’s statement that the @pmot the washwater system, prevented the K-21
line from starting on time on November 1, 2015, @san inconsistency about Mr. Perrier’s
decision to issue Mr. White a Rule 9 write-ufst most, however, this evidence suggests
Mr. Perrier might have reached the wrong conclugiben he assessed the cause of the delay in
starting the K-21 line. But, evidence merelyabtishing a mistaken belief on the part of a
decisionmaker does not establish pret@&¢&Paulg 859 F.3d at 970-71. Also, Mr. Perrier based
his decision to issue Mr. White the November, Rulgrite-up on complaints he received from
Shift D employees. Mr. Monroe was not privy to those comidaiAnd, while Mr. White does
not advance any argument against his tveadénber 2015, Rule 9 write-ups, the undisputed
photographic evidence supporting Mr. Perriglegision compellingly depicts the washwater
area in a neglected state of disarray. Thaimstshow what appears to be fiber scraps
everywhere, including overflowing from bins under machinery. Here, the pictures nullify
Mr. White’s words, and they defeat any obadf pretext for the December 2015, Rule 9 write-
ups. Cf. Scott v. Harris550 U.S. 372, 380-81 (2007) (relyiag video evidence to resolve
dispute of fact at summary judgment and stati“When opposing parseell two different
stories, one of which is blatty contradicted by the recordp that no reasonable jury could
believe it, a court should notlapt that version of the factsrfpurposes of ruling on a motion for
summary judgment.”).

Second, Mr. White contends the basis forihiisal termination suggests pretext because
that termination later was deemed to violategtaat’'s progressive disdipe policy. Doc. 43 at

72. Had CertainTeed stood by its initial decidgiomerminate Mr. White, Mr. White might have
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a meritorious argument. But, upon learning of Bitlings’s determintion that the plant’s
discipline policy favored reinstating Mr. White, MRerrier agreed with thautcome. Thus, at
most, Mr. White demonstrates that Mr. Pemias mistaken about how the plant disciplinary
policy operated in the semi-unigsiuation where: (1) an grtoyee receives two write-ups for
the same rule violation on the same day; (8)white-ups stem from incidents on different days;
and (3) the two write-ups combine with an earlier write-up for a total of three write-ups within a
nine-month period® This subsequently-corrected mistakapplication of the plant discipline
policy does not suffice to establish prete®ee DePaula859 F.3d at 970-71 (evidence of
mistake on part of decisionmaker does not establish pretext).

In conclusion, while the cotialready has decided toagit summary judgment against
Mr. White’s discrimination claims based on disapilrace, and national oiigat the prima facie
stage because Mr. White did not advance ewdéeaupporting the causation element, the court
alternatively concludes that Mr. White haséddilto adduce any admissible evidence supporting
his burden at the pretext stage of BheDonnell Douglagsramework. This holding provides a
separate basis for granting summpggggment against those claims.

8. Count V — Retaliation Under 42 U.S.C. § 198%

Section 1981 of Title 42 “prohibits not only racial discrimination but also retaliation

against those who oppose itParker Excavating, Inc. v. Lafarge W., In863 F.3d 1213, 1220

(10th Cir. 2017) (quotingniv. of Tex. Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassar0 U.S. 338, 355 (2013)).

18 The court says “at most” because Mr. White doeslimett the court to anything in the Union’s Collective
Bargaining Agreement or the plant’s disciplinary procedwddressing what happéihan employee receives two
Rule 9 write-ups on the same day.

19 Count V of Mr. White’s Complaint also raises a claim for retaliation underVitleCertainTeed argues
dismissal is required because Mr. White failed to exhaust his administrative remedies. Doc. 38 at 27 A88teMr
explicitly concedes this point and abandons this claim as unexha&sedoc. 43 at 74 (“Mr. White will abandon
his Title VII retaliation claimwhich was not exhausted.”).
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And, unlike a Title VII retaliatin claim, no administrative exhstion requirement applies to
claims brought under § 198CBOCS W., Inc. v. Humphrigs53 U.S. 442, 455 (2008).

Where a plaintiff relies on circumstantial evidence to advance his claiflctbennell
Douglasburden-shifting framework applie®arker Excavating, In¢863 F.3d at 1220. Under
that framework, the initial burden @ the plaintiff to show thd{1) he engaged in opposition to
racial discrimination that is protected undez #tatute; (2) a reasdrla person would have
found the challenged action materially advees®l (3) a causal connection existed between the
protected activity anthe adverse action.ld. CertainTeed and Mr. White disagree when
Mr. White first opposed alleged racial discrintioa. Also, CertainTeed argues that Mr. White
has not presented evidence supporting the thintheht of his prima facie case. To decide
whether Mr. White satisfied his bien on the third element, the court first must determine when
Mr. White initially opposed perceivadce discrimination at CertainTeed.

Mr. White seemingly contends he engagethiee actions thajualify as protected
opposition to race discrimination: (1) talkingdtiher hourly employees about discrimination;
(2) complaining to Mr. Monroe about discriminatjand (3) filing an EEOC charge. There is
no dispute that the third aefiling an EEOC charge—qualifies as protected activige
Anderson181 F.3d at 1178 (“By filing an EEOC claim, Plaintiff engaged in protected
activity.”). Neither oe of Mr. White’s other alleged aotis, however, qualifeeas a protected
activity.

Discussing what will suffice as an act opipgsdiscrimination, the Supreme Court has
given the word “oppose” its dictionary definitiorito resist or antagonize . . .; to contend
against; to confront; resist; withstandCrawford v. Metro. Gov't of Nashville & Davidson Cty.,

Tenn, 555 U.S. 271, 276 (2009) (quoting Webster’'s\Nieternational Dictionary 1710 (2d ed.
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1957)). To oppose discrimination, an employee medise any “magic words” but he “must
convey to the employer his orth@ncern that the employer has engaged in a practice made
unlawful by [Title VII or § 1981].” Hinds v. Sprint/United Mgmt. C&23 F.3d 1187, 1203
(10th Cir. 2008) (emphasis added). In cast, expressing generic dissatisfaction with a
company’s course of action won’'t do. “General complaints about company management and
one’s own negative performance evaluation will not suffidd.” Along those lines, “a vague
reference to discrimination and harassmeithiaut any indication that this misconduct was
motivated by race . . . does not constitutggeted activity and wilhot support a retaliation
claim.” Anderson v. Acad. Sch. Dig0, 122 F. App’'x 912, 916 (10th Cir. 2004ge also
Petersen v. Utah Dep’t of Corr301 F.3d 1182, 1188 (10th Cir. 20¢2} therefore follows
that [plaintiff’'s] superiors could not know thalhe was engaging in protected opposition unless
they knew that her opposition was based (at iegsart) on . . . bigoted motives.”).

The content of an employee’s complainhdg the only requisite for a complaint to
gualify as an act opposing discrimination. Kisdsrecognized, the complaining employee must
“convey [his opposition] to the employer.” 523 F.3d at 1203. Mr. White’s communications to
other hourly employees would not have placed@eTeed’s managers on notice of Mr. White’s
opposition to discriminatiof? These communications, thus, do not qualify as a protected
activity for purposes of getaliation claim.

Turning to Mr. White’s communication withir. Monroe in November 2015, Mr. White
used the word “harassment” in passing bubéeer identified any race-based motivation on the

part of Mr. Perrier or any oth€ertainTeed manager. Doc. 43-22 at 8 (Transcript of Audio

20 Certainly, the court can envision circumstansigre statements opposing discrimination—though

expressed just to non-marmegent employees—could proeidhe predicate for a retdiian claim. For example,

where a retaliation plaintiff adduced admissible evidence that his opposition was relayed to management employees,
albeit indirectly, that might satistginds But Mr. White hasn’t advanced any such evidence here.
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Recording at 25:16-24). His complaint, therefavras a general complaint insufficient to place
Mr. Monroe on notice that Mr. White sougbtoppose race discrimination. Nor could

Mr. Monroe have inferred that Mr. White’sroplaint about how he was treated compared to
other utility cullets wasbout race discrimination when theet other utility cullets on the K-21
line in 2015 were all African-AmericarSeeDoc. 43-11 at 7 (White Dep. 20:11-19) (identifying
other three utility cuts as African-American). And, aapubt about Mr. White’s intent when
communicating with Mr. Monroe is resolvég Mr. White’s own admission. During his
deposition testimony, Mr. White conceded that he never complained of discrimination to any
CertainTeed manager and was, in faftaid to make a complaintd. at 36, 38, 41 (White Dep.
148:11-23, 143:9-14, 154:18-25).

Following from the conclusion that Mr. Whitedsly protected activity was the filing of
his EEOC charge, Mr. White can claim retatatunder 8 1981 based only on CertainTeed’s
actions after they learned of his EEOC chargdempting to make his prima facie case for
retaliation, Mr. White identifiesnvo actions that occurred after his EEOC charge: (1)
CertainTeed advanced allegations against hitheaairbitration hearing and (2) CertainTeed
undercalculated his back wages and did not rtiadg@ayment in a timely manner. Mr. White,
however, either is unable to comnhdis protected activity to CainTeed’s actions or fails to
advance specific proof aboGertainTeed’s actions.

On the first alleged act of retaliation, abignation hearing is aadversarial proceeding
where one would expect the parties to advatiegations against each other. No reasonable
jury could find that CertainTeed’s defenséatsfpre-EEOC charge pogit in an arbitration

proceedinggommenced by Mr. Whitan support an inference of retaliatory motive.
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On the second alleged act of retaliatibti, White fails to offer any evidence
establishing that CertainTeed unchdculated his back wages. In fact, Mr. White never even
identifies the amount he believes CertainTeed should have paid him. Mr. White thus has not
demonstrated that CertainTeed’s calculatiohistback wages qualifies as an adverse action.
Mr. White has established, however, that Caftaed did not pay him the back wages in a
timely manner, as ordered by the arbitratort, Bwe four months between when CertainTeed
learned of the EEOC charge and the deadtinéhe back-wage payment is too long for
Mr. White to rely solely on temporgkoximity to establish causatioisee Metzler464 F.3d at
1172.

Even if Mr. White could make out a prima facie case, CertainTeed has offered a
legitimate non-retaliatory reason for the geld@he summary judgment facts establish
CertainTeed was in ongoing discussions withWhen between the date the payment was due
under the arbitration ruling and the date Ceffaied made the payment. Docs. 38-24, 38-25.
And, Mr. White fails to sustain his burdenthé pretext stage by offering any evidence
countering or undermining this explanation for the delay.

In sum, Mr. White has failed to shoulder higden to show that he can establish a prima
facie claim for retaliation under 8 1981. Thwud thus sustains CertainTeed’s Motion for
Summary Judgment agairibe claim asserted in Count V.

C. Motion to Strike Plaintiff’'s Untimely Amended Rule 26 Disclosures

In its Motion to Strike Plaintiff’'s Untiraly Amended Rule 26 Disclosures (Doc. 34),
CertainTeed seeks to preclude Mr. White fnalying on evidence frorthe witnesses not timely
identified in a Federal Rule of Civil Procedw6 disclosure. By exalling Exhibits 43-13, 43-

16, and 43-17 from consideration, the court effety struck the evidence before it on summary
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judgment that came from the untimely dischhgétnesses. And, by granting CertainTeed’s
Motion for Summary Judgmente court need not deterreinvhether it should permit
Mr. White to present evidence from the untimely disetbwitnesses at a tridlat will not occur.
The court thus denies CertainTeed’s Motiorstoke Plaintiff’'s Untimely Amended Rule 26
Disclosures as moot.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT CertainTeed’s Motion to
Strike Plaintiff's Opposition Exhibits 13, 16, 122, and 23 (Doc. 44) is granted in part and
denied in part.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT CertainTeed’'s Motion for
Summary Judgment (Do87) is granted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT CertainTeed’s Motion to
Strike Plaintiff's Untimely Amended Rule dBisclosures (Doc. 34) is denied as moot.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT the Clerk is directed to enter a
judgment consistent with th@@rder and clas this case.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 13th day of May, 2019, at Kansas City, Kansas.

g Daniel D. Crabtree

Daniel D. Crabtree
United States District Judge
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